

~~EU VAT Services Online Agreement~~

VAT Services on Amazon ~~Terms and Conditions~~ Online Agreement

Last updated: ~~May 9, 2019~~ 31, 2020

The English version of this agreement is the definitive legal version. Translations into ~~German, French, Italian, Spanish and Chinese~~ other languages are available for your ease of reference only.

The use of and access to tax services provided by third parties on Seller Central are subject to (i) the terms and conditions below (the “**Terms**”) between you (“**you**” or “**your**”) and Amazon Services Europe Sàrl S.à.r.l. (“**we**”, “**us**” or “**Amazon**”); and (ii) your agreement with Avalara Europe Ltd. (“**Avalara**”); and, if applicable (iii) the third-party service provider that performs tax services on your agreement with KPMG Global Services Hungary Ltd (“**KPMG**”) (Avalara and, if applicable, KPMG, behalf (each a “**Tax Agent**”, and they your agreement with each of Avalara and, if applicable, KPMG the Tax Agent, the “**Tax Agent Terms**”). You agree to all of these terms by using the services described below.

1. **Definitions:** Unless otherwise provided in these Terms, all capitalised terms are as defined in the [Amazon Services Europe Business Solutions Agreement](#) (the “**EU-BSA**”).
2. **Services:** It is the Tax Agent that is solely responsible for the provision of tax services, which may include assistance with (i) VAT registrations (document submission and lodging); (ii) VAT return, Intrastat and ESL compliance report preparation; (iii) VAT return submission; (iv) Intrastat and ESL compliance reporting; and (v) any associated translations or required government filing fees associated with (i) to (iv) (the “**Tax Services**”). Amazon ~~only~~ gives you access to an interface in Seller Central that helps you interact with the Tax Agent and provides you tool technology that can help you calculate your VAT exclusive prices, create invoices, and track the Tax Agent consolidate your transactions details and manage your VAT compliance obligations more conveniently (the “**Additional Services**”).-
3. **~~Tax~~ License and Use:** Subject to your compliance with your obligations under these Terms, we grant you a revocable, non-exclusive, non-sublicenseable, non-transferrable right to use and access any features and functionalities in relation to the Additional Services for the duration of these Terms (“**License**”). Your use of and access to the Additional Services is limited to your internal, normal professional purposes in using the applicable Amazon Site, with exclusion of any other use or access.
- 3.4. **Fee Payments:** To use the services described in the preceding section you will be charged the fees and charges described [here] (i) for Tax Services purchased from

~~Avalara, the fees and charges described fully here;~~the Tax Agent (“**Tax Agent Fees**”) and (ii) for the ~~Tax Services purchased from KPMG, the fees and charges described fully here~~ (“**Additional Services Fee**”; collectively with the **Tax Agent Fees**, “**Fees**”). You authorise us, including our affiliates Amazon Payments Europe S.C.A. (“**APE**”) and Amazon Payments UK Limited (“**APUK**”) where applicable, (and will provide documentation evidencing your authorisation upon our request) to charge the Fees, or any portion thereof, to the credit card on file (“**Your Credit Card**”), the bank account on file or debit any of your payment account(s) held with APE and/or APUK, in each case provided for the provision of services under the **EU-BSA**. The Fees ~~will~~may be automatically deducted where applicable, for any sums payable by us to you (in reimbursements or otherwise). In addition to charging payable sums as referred to in this section, we may (a) offset any amounts that are payable by you to us (in reimbursement or otherwise) against any payments made to you under these Terms or the **EU-BSA**; (b) invoice you for amounts due ~~to us~~ under these Terms or the **EU-BSA**, in which case you will pay the invoiced amounts upon receipt.

4.5. Your Information: You authorise and instruct us to provide to the Tax Agents and our affiliates as applicable: (i) any information we hold about you, Your Products or Your ~~Products~~Transactions required by the Tax Agent to provide you Tax Services, and (ii) reports, calculations, tax returns, and any other information about you ~~and~~, your products or transactions that you make available to Amazon at any time.

5.6. No Professional Advice: The Additional Services do not constitute, and Amazon does not give, tax, legal, or other professional advice. You should consult your tax advisor to help you understand your VAT obligations.

6.7. Disclaimer: The Additional Services are provided for your convenience only and you bear full responsibility to determine the applicability and accuracy of the information generated by Amazon, including all calculation, invoicing, tax reporting and any other tax-related obligations.

7.8. Relationship:~~Relationship:~~ The contractual relationship for the Tax Services is exclusively between you and the Tax Agent. We do not have any authority to act on your behalf beyond the activities described in these Terms or any other agreement you have entered into with us. For the avoidance of doubt, you acknowledge and agree that Amazon has no obligations (including fiduciary obligations) as your agent. Amazon and the Tax Agents are independent contractors.

8.9. Additional Terms: The Additional Services are subject to ~~your seller agreement~~these Terms and the **EU-BSA**. We may at any time cease providing or giving access to any or all of these Additional Services at our sole discretion and without notice. This is without prejudice to the relevant Tax Agent Terms that may remain in force. ~~In the event of conflict between these Terms and the EU-BSA, these Terms will govern and control.~~

10. Modification:~~Data Processing:~~ To the extent that we act as a processor under the EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 ("GDPR") (or any other applicable law

with respect to the protection of personal data and any data protection laws substantially amending, replacing or superseding the GDPR following the exit by the United Kingdom from the European Union) in relation to any personal data that you give us regarding your sales or transactions via channels other than Amazon, including your own website if applicable, the VAT Services on Amazon Data Processing Addendum available [here] will apply.

~~9.11.~~ **Modification:** These Terms supersede any prior version of the Terms (by reference to date last updated) governing your use of VAT Services on Amazon. We may modify these Terms at any time at our sole discretion. Any changes will be effective upon our notice to you ~~pursuant to~~ in accordance with the ~~EU~~ BSA, including via email or by publishing applicable materials on Seller Central or the Amazon Site.

~~10.12.~~ **Termination:** These Terms will automatically terminate upon: (i) the termination of the ~~EU~~ BSA, (ii) the termination of ~~all~~ the relevant Tax Agent Terms, or (iii) notice by us at our sole discretion.

VAT SERVICES ON AMAZON DATA PROCESSING ADDENDUM

The English version of this agreement is the definitive legal version. Translations into other languages are available for your ease of reference only.

This data processing addendum ("DPA") forms part of the VAT Services on Amazon Online Agreement ("Principal Agreement") available [here], as updated from time to time between: (i) Amazon Services Europe S.à.r.l. ("Amazon"); and (ii) the entity registering for and using VAT Services on Amazon ("you" or "Merchant"), jointly the "Parties" or separately the "Party".

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein will have the meaning given to them in the Principal Agreement. Except as modified below, the terms of the Principal Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

Article 1: Definitions

The following terms, used in this DPA with a capital letter, will have the meaning given to them in this article, unless clearly indicated otherwise by the context:

"Affiliate" means an entity that owns or controls, is owned or controlled by or is under common control or ownership with either Amazon or Merchant (as the context allows), where control is defined as the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of an entity, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise;

"Applicable Data Protection Legislation" means the EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 ("GDPR"), any other applicable law with respect to the protection of personal data and any data protection laws substantially amending, replacing or superseding the GDPR following the exit by the United Kingdom from the European Union;

"Contractual Relationship" means the Principal Agreement between the Parties defining the delivery of the services and/or products or the collaboration between the Parties, including all its amendments and annexes and anything that is subsequently agreed between the Parties with respect to this DPA;

"DPA" means this data processing addendum, including its annexes;

"Off-Amazon Transaction Data" means transaction data, which may include Personal Data, in respect of transactions by Merchant made via channels other than the Amazon Site, including Merchant's own website if applicable;

“On-Amazon Transaction Data”

means transaction data, which may include Personal Data, in respect of transactions by Merchant made via the Amazon Site;

“Process” or “Processing”, “Controller”, “Processor”, “Data Subject” and “Personal Data Breach”

will have the same meaning as in the Applicable Data Protection Legislation;

“Restricted Transfer”

means a transfer of Personal Data from one Party or its Affiliate to the other Party or its Affiliate, where such transfer would be prohibited by Applicable Data Protection Legislation in the absence of the Standard Contractual Clauses. For the avoidance of any doubt:

- a) without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the Parties to this DPA intend that transfers of Personal Data from the UK to the European Economic Area (“EEA”) or from the EEA to the UK, following the exit by the UK from the European Union will be Restricted Transfers for such time and to such extent that such transfers would be prohibited by UK Applicable Data Protection Legislation or EU Applicable Data Protection Legislation (as the case may be) in the absence of the Standard Contractual Clauses; and
- b) where a transfer of Personal Data from one country to another country is of a type authorised by Applicable Data Protection Legislation in the exporting country for example in the case of transfers from within the European Union to a country or scheme (such as the US Privacy Shield) which is approved by the European Commission as ensuring an adequate level of protection or any transfer which falls within a permitted derogation, such transfer will not be a Restricted Transfer for the purposes of this DPA;

“Standard Contractual Clauses”

means:

- a) the standard contractual clauses for Restricted Transfers as set out in Commission Decision C(2004)5721, as updated, amended, replaced or superseded from time to time by the European Commission; or
- b) where required from time to time by a Supervisory Authority for use with respect to any specific Restricted Transfer, any other set of contractual clauses or other similar mechanism approved by such Supervisory Authority or by Applicable Data Protection Legislation for use in respect of such Restricted Transfer, as updated, amended, replaced or superseded from time to time such

Supervisory Authority or Applicable Data Protection Legislation;

“Supervisory Authority”

means:

- a) an independent public authority established by a Member State of the European Union pursuant to Article 51 of the GDPR; and
- b) any similar regulatory authority responsible for the enforcement of Applicable Data Protection Legislation.

“Technical and Organisational Measures”

means the technical and organisational measures as defined in the GDPR and as further detailed in Annex 2 of this DPA;

Article 2: Role of the Parties; Purpose of the DPA

The Parties acknowledge that Amazon will act as a separate Controller in relation to On-Amazon Transaction Data and as a Processor in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data. Merchant will act as a (separate) Controller in relation to both On-Amazon Transaction Data and Off-Amazon Transaction Data. The purpose of this DPA is to define the conditions under which Amazon undertakes to perform Processing of Personal Data on behalf of Merchant as defined in the Contractual Relationship or described in Annex 1 of this DPA. Within the framework of their Contractual Relationship the Parties agree to comply with the Applicable Data Protection Legislation and, in particular, the GDPR.

Article 3: Term of the Agreement

This DPA will come into force on 25/05/2018 or on the effective date of the Contractual Relationship if it becomes effective after 25/05/2018. Amazon may Process the Personal Data transmitted by Merchant for as long as necessary for the performance of the assignment as specified in the Contractual Relationship or Annex 1 of this DPA.

Article 4: Obligations of Amazon in relation to the Processing of Personal Data:

Amazon agrees to comply with the following obligations:

Article 4.1: Data Processing

Amazon agrees to Process the Personal Data in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data only in accordance with the written instructions of Merchant set out in the Contractual Relationship or in Annex 1 of this DPA (the “**Documented Instructions**”). Additional instructions outside the scope of the Documented Instructions (if any) require prior written agreement between Amazon and Merchant.

Should Amazon reasonably consider that an instruction constitutes a violation of the GDPR or another provision of EU or Member State law on Data Protection (“**Challenged Instruction**”), it will promptly inform Merchant of such situation. Upon providing such notification, Amazon will be entitled to suspend performance of the Challenged Instruction and to continue to Process the Personal Data in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data in accordance with previously provided

instructions. Merchant will not be entitled to any indemnity or damages for such stay in performance.

Article 4.2: Confidentiality

Amazon will ensure that persons authorised to Process the Personal Data in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data for purposes of the Contractual Relationship undertake to respect the confidentiality of the Personal Data or be subject to an appropriate legal obligation of confidentiality.

Article 4.3: Technical and Organisational Measures

Taking into account the state of the art, the costs of implementation and the nature, scope, context and purposes of the Processing as well as the risks of varying likelihood and severity to the rights and freedoms of natural persons, Amazon will implement appropriate Technical and Organisational Measures to ensure a level of security appropriate to the risk. These will include, inter alia and as appropriate, those listed in Annex 2. In assessing the appropriate level of security, account will be taken in particular of the risks that are presented by Processing, in particular resulting from accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to, Personal Data transmitted, stored or otherwise Processed.

Article 4.4: Sub-Processing

Merchant acknowledges and agrees that Amazon may use another Processor to fulfil its contractual obligations under this DPA or to provide certain services on its behalf (hereinafter the “**Sub-Processor**”). By agreeing to the terms of this DPA, Merchant grants Amazon the general authorisation to recruit Sub-Processors and allows Amazon to continue to work with Sub-Processors that had already been appointed on the effective date of the DPA. Merchant hereby specifically authorises Amazon to engage any Amazon Affiliate as a Sub-Processor.

A list of Sub-Processors engaged by Amazon can be accessed [here]. If Amazon engages a new Sub-Processor, the aforementioned list will be updated accordingly, allowing Merchant to object to these changes. Where Merchant objects to the appointment of a Sub-Processor, Merchant acknowledges and agrees that Amazon will no longer deliver any services under the Contractual Relationship that require Processing of Personal Data in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data.

These terms and conditions will apply to all Sub-Processors:

- a) Any Sub-Processors engaged by Amazon must implement appropriate technical and organisational measures such that the Processing meets GDPR requirements; and
- b) Amazon will impose on the Sub-Processor the same Data Protection obligations as those set out in Article 4 of this DPA.

Article 4.5: Rights of Data Subjects

Merchant will provide the Data Subjects with information pursuant to their rights (Chapter III of the GDPR), both in its own capacity as Controller in all cases and on behalf of Amazon as Controller as regards On-Amazon Transaction Data. Merchant will be responsible for handling any Data Subject request relating to its Processing activities. Amazon will notify Merchant of any request from a Data Subject it may receive.

Taking into account the nature of the Processing, and by means of appropriate Technical and Organisational Measures, Amazon will provide assistance reasonably requested by Merchant to allow Merchant to fulfil its obligation to comply with requests made by Data Subjects to Merchant for exercising their rights.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent any Data Subject issues a request to Merchant that only relates to Amazon's Processing of On-Amazon Transaction Data as a Controller, Merchant will redirect the Data Subject toward Amazon for the handling of such a request.

Article 4.6: Assistance to Merchant with respect to the Impact Assessment and Prior Consultation:

Amazon will provide assistance reasonably requested by Merchant to allow Merchant to meet its obligations with respect to impact assessment and prior consultation (as described in the articles 35 and 36 of the GDPR), taking into account the nature of Processing and the information available to Amazon. Merchant acknowledges and agrees that information contained in this DPA, together with other written or online materials provided or made available by Amazon about the nature of its Processing of Personal Data, is sufficient for Merchant to conduct any such impact assessment and consultation.

Article 4.7: Personal Data Breach

Amazon will notify Merchant of any Personal Data Breach in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data as soon as reasonably possible, and without undue delay, after having become aware of such Personal Data Breach and take reasonable steps to mitigate the effects and to minimise any damage resulting from the Personal Data Breach. This notification will be accompanied, where possible and taking into account the nature of the services, by the information available to Amazon and any restrictions on disclosing the information such as confidentiality, by any useful documentation enabling Merchant, if necessary, to notify the competent Supervisory Authority of such Personal Data Breach.

Notification(s) of Personal Data Breaches, if any, will be delivered to one or more of Merchant's administrators by any means Amazon selects, including via email. It is Merchant's sole responsibility to ensure Controller's administrators maintain accurate contact information and secure transmission at all times. Amazon's obligation to report or respond to a Personal Data Breach under this section is not and will not be construed as an acknowledgement by Amazon of any fault or liability with respect to the Personal Data Breach.

Article 4.8: Deletion of Off-Amazon Transaction Data

Upon the earlier to occur of the termination or expiry of the Principal Agreement or at Merchant's request, Amazon will delete all Personal Data in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data transmitted by Merchant, provided that Amazon may retain such Personal Data for a longer period to the extent required by applicable law or to the extent necessary to establish, exercise or defend its legal rights, comply with its legal obligations, or as otherwise permitted by the Principal Agreement.

Article 4.9: Documentation and Audit

Merchant may audit Amazon's controls relating to Processing Personal Data in relation to Off-Amazon Transaction Data transmitted by Merchant. Following receipt of any such audit request by Merchant, Amazon and Merchant will agree to a reasonable start date, scope and duration, and security and confidentiality controls, applicable to the audit. Merchant agrees that the sole purpose of the audit is to allow Merchant to reasonably verify Amazon's compliance with its obligations under this DPA. Merchant is not entitled to receive (1) information about any system, hardware, software, technology, know-how, program, process, or policy that does not involve Personal Data relating to Off-Amazon Transaction Data and the obligations set out in this DPA, (2) any information that, in Amazon's reasonable opinion, could compromise the security of any Amazon systems or premises or cause Amazon or any Amazon Affiliate to breach its obligations under the GDPR or other applicable laws and regulations or privacy obligations to Amazon customers or any third party, or (3) any information that Merchant seeks to access for any reason other than good faith fulfilment of Merchant's obligations under the Applicable Data Protection Legislation. Any audit requests must set out the reasons justifying the audit. Amazon may object to any third party auditor appointed by Merchant to conduct any audit under this Article if the auditor is, in Amazon's reasonable opinion, not suitably qualified or independent. Any such objection will require Merchant to appoint another auditor or conduct the audit itself. Amazon will be entitled to a reasonable fee from Merchant upon providing and making available all the necessary information.

Article 4.10: Restricted Transfers

The Parties hereby enter into the Standard Contractual Clauses, which are incorporated into this DPA by reference, in respect of any Restricted Transfer. For the purposes of clause II h) of the Standard Contractual Clauses, the Parties will be deemed to have selected option (iii). Annex 2 to the Standard Contractual Clauses will be deemed to be prepopulated with the relevant sections of Annex 1 to this DPA. Subject to the Standard Contractual Clauses in respect of any Restricted Transfer, Merchant agrees that Amazon may transfer, store and Process Personal Data to and in countries outside of the EEA for purposes of Processing set forth in this DPA.

Article 5: Liability

Amazon will not be liable towards Merchant for any breach of Applicable Data Protection Legislation that is attributable in whole or in part to Merchant or Merchant's instructions. Merchant warrants that all Personal Data that Merchant provides to Amazon has been collected and treated in accordance with Applicable Data Protection Legislation. In case of breach of this obligation, Merchant will indemnify, defend and hold Amazon harmless from and against all losses, liabilities, claims and damages arising from claims of a third party or a Supervisory Authority.

Article 6: Other Provisions

Article 6.1: Jurisdiction and Governing Law

The Parties declare that the court given jurisdiction in the Contractual Relationship between the Parties will also have jurisdiction over any dispute and any claims that may arise as a result of this DPA, including any disputes relating to its existence, its legal validity or its termination or the consequences of its nullity. The Parties declare that this DPA, as well as all non-contractual or

other obligations attached to this DPA, will be governed by the laws of the country determined in the Contractual Relationship between the Parties.

Article 6.2: Validity and Enforceability

The invalidity or non-enforceability of any provision of the DPA, whatever it may be, will not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of the DPA. The corresponding provision will be either (i) replaced by a valid and enforceable provision that is closest to the original intention of the Parties or, if this is not possible, (ii) will be interpreted as if the invalid or unenforceable provision had never been part of this DPA.

ANNEX 1: DETAILS RELATING TO THE PROCESSING OF THE CONTRACTING PARTY'S PERSONAL DATA

This Annex 1 contains certain details regarding the Processing of the Personal Data transmitted by the Controller, as stipulated in Article 28(3) of the GDPR.

Subject-matter and duration of the Processing of the Personal Data transmitted by the Controller:

The subject matter and duration of the Processing of the Personal Data transmitted by the Controller are as described in the Contractual Relationship and this DPA.

Nature and purpose (aim) of the Processing of the Personal Data transmitted by the Controller:

The Processing of the Personal Data transmitted by the Controller is for purposes of the Contractual Relationship.

Types of Personal Data transmitted by the Controller:

The following types of Personal Data may be transmitted by the Controller: Personal Data relating to Merchant, Merchant's customers, and/or its or their respective representatives and/or suppliers, such as names, addresses, contact information, identification numbers and other data relevant for tax compliance purposes and relating to a natural person.

Categories of Data Subjects to which the Personal Data transmitted by the Controller relates:

The Personal Data transmitted by the Controller relates to the following categories of Data Subjects: Merchant, Merchant's customers, and/or its or their respective representatives and/or suppliers.

ANNEX 2: SECURITY MEASURES

To ensure the Processing of Personal Data under the Contractual Relationship, Amazon will implement and maintain the following Technical and Organisational Measures:

Information Security Program. Amazon will maintain an information security program (including the adoption and enforcement of internal policies and procedures) designed to (a) help secure Personal Data against accidental or unlawful loss, access or disclosure, (b) identify reasonably foreseeable external and internal risks to security and unauthorised access to Amazon’s systems, and (c) minimise security risks, including through risk assessment and regular testing. Amazon will designate one or more employees to coordinate and be accountable for the information security program. The information security program will include, for example, the following measures:

- a) Install and maintain a working network firewall to protect data accessible via the Internet;
- b) Keep security patches up-to-date;
- c) Encrypt data sent across networks;
- d) Use and regularly update anti-malware software;
- e) Avoid use of supplier-supplied defaults for system passwords and other security parameters;
- f) Mandate the use of “strong passwords” on all systems, or, in the absence of a mandatory (system enforced) password quality checker, enforce account lockout after no more than 10 consecutive incorrect password attempts;
- g) Maintain a policy that addresses information security for employees and suppliers;
- h) Use a continuous security lifecycle to identify, assess, protect and monitor systems containing Amazon data; and
- i) Restrict remote access to the entire network and employ remote access controls to verify the identity of users connecting.

VAT Services on Amazon - List of Sub-Processors

Last Modified: May 19, 2020

Amazon Services Europe S.à.r.l. (“ASE”) uses certain affiliates and/or third parties to assist it in providing services to its customers. A “Sub-Processor” is an affiliate or third party service provider or data processor engaged by ASE that has or potentially will have access to or process personal data. ASE engages Sub-Processors to perform various functions as explained in the table below.

The following is a list (as at the date above) of ASE’s key Sub-Processors and the purposes for which they process personal data:

<u>Sub-Processor</u>	<u>Purpose</u>
<u>Amazon Spain Services SL</u>	<u>Merchant support services</u>
<u>Amazon Development Center India Pvt. Ltd</u>	<u>Operational services</u>
<u>Amazon Slovakia S.R.O</u>	<u>Merchant support services</u>